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..COIJRT ar GENERAL gESSSTONS ar THE PEACE 

City and County of New York. 

THE PEOPTY 

against 

LOUIS SOKOLINSKY. 

Indictment filed October 8th,. 1906. 

Indicted for assault in the first and second degrees* 

APPEARANCES: 

For the People, ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY VIAA8n 

For the Defendant, MR. MANHBITL 

Before HON. OTTO A. ROSALSKY, Judge, and a 

the 13th day of April, 1909. 

Trial of the defendant :as to his, sanity and a 

whether it would be dangerous to.the,public peace 

safety to allow the defendant. :at large. 

JAMES J. WALSH, M. D., called asawitness,bein 

dilly sworn and examined, testified as follows: 

DIRECT-EXALTINATION BY MR. KRESEL: 

Q Are :rou a pllysician and surgeon? A Yes, sir. 

(1 And are :,ou now practicing your profession? A Vs, 

, . . 



q .Where and when were yoU admitted.tt pract 

I graduated at the University of Pennsylvania try. 

got my licence to practice medicine in Nev York nine 

Q. You were graduated from the University oi PO 

in 1895? A Yes. 

q For how long a time have Toil been pratticing.ytUi, 

fession? A About eleven years, 

Q And are you now attached to any institution, 

Q What is  that? A Ford]aam University Medical Sc 

What position do you hold there I am Delap 

Faculty and Professor of Nervous Di-sea:set.. 

Q For how long a time have you been a Ptah 

ulty of Fordham University? A Three years', 

And for how long a time have You been:a PrOf0800r. 

Nervous Diseases there?‘ A Three rears.. 

Q Prior to becoming connected with the Fordham Univerl!. 

sity as Professor of Nervous Diseases, did you make any spoclak 

study of nervous diseases? A Yes. 

Q, will you state to the jury- and the Court Just what: 

studies ,rou pursued in that line? A During two years and 

four months spent in Europe, most of the time at nervous dis-

eases in Paris, in Vienna and in Berlin. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q IlLve you written any books on the subject of nervous 
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iseases? A I have written a book on paStoral medicine t 

contains a number of chapters on nervous diseases, and I &gin 

engaged in a book on psychic therapeutics. 

BY R. KRESEL: 

q Most of the time you have been practicing your prates-, 

sion have you devoted most of that time to the study of nervout 

diseases? A Fes, sir, most of that time. 

Q, And you have had occasion in the course of your prac-

tice and in the course of your study to examine the nental_con-

dision of patients? A !es. 

Q Can you give the jury an estimate 'of about how many 

Such examination you have been called upon to make9 Arhat 

will be very hard to,say. Amount to several hundres, at Ittstir-

where there was seriou8 question of the mental state. 

Q Have you examined this than Louis Bokolinsky? A Yet -

sir. 

q How many times have you examined I saw him 

twice in the Tombs. 

Q, When was the first time that you examined hit?. 

A Just about a month ago. 

Q, When was the second time?' A About five days later, 

or four Aolays later --Thursday and Monday* 

Q Now, Doctor, will you state just What condition you 

found this man in both physically and mentally? A His phys-

ical condition: He had sone prominence of the eyeballs, that 
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most of you can see. He had sore slight enlargoient 

/tyroid glandr; When you drawn your finger' 

skin, there is-a.tendepcy for the mark that is 1 

He has, in a word, what we sometimes speak of as abortive 

disease.. That nearly always has some mental slyelptdM 

with it. He has some deformity of his thoraZI hla-11 

he has a slight scoliosis--slight crookedness of the 

column. These are the indication of :some physical dete 

tion, sometimes spoken of as degeneracy. 

His mental condition  His memory seems to be gap 

celot :of the day when he -committed the crime or.whet 

ing took place. His memory for other things Seeela, 

good. The motive for the crime,- there seems to be none,. 

the only thing that men can judge from then, with rag 

mental conditien, is from this act itself and froM,00 

that was before the Court when he was tried, and that to 

dicates that for very slight or for no motive he is 1i401: 

do things at times when other men -would not go them.; 

words, that he .would be distinctly a risk to the community 

the present time, if he were to be among them and absolute* 

free. 

Q In your opinion, from the examinations - that you hive 

made of this man Sokolinsky, what is your opinion, as to the 

questiol, whether it would or would not be dangerous to the pub., 

lic peada and safety to allow this man Louis Sokolinsky to be 
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at large?. A I think that it would he d'ange..1. 

.Q You think that it would he dangerOUO t 

peace and safety?- A At the present .time, yes*. 

(1 You thihk it would he dangerous to allow 

at the present tin? A Yes. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MANHEIY: 

Now, you know that Zokolinsky, 

a revolver at a man? A Yes. 

Q You do not know of any other act that was no. 

ly normal and proper and right that this y ever di 

life, except shooting that revolver at a man, 

and having committed' that other act of which you S 

know of no other act that he ever d14 in all his life 

not perfectly normal and sane and right, 40 

heard of one more. 

RI That is what I say, you heard of his shootitg, a *Ito 

ver at a.man and you heard of what else 

Q And that shooting a revolver, that Is what Ipw, 

those two acts? A There was also a third one mentiOned to 

me. 

RI Vho mentioned the third one to you? A The man. that  

was shot. 

Q The man Who was shot, you went to see the man Who W0 

shot, did you not? A No. 

7)id you go to see the man who was shot? No. 



SY THE COURT: 

4 Did you examine Int katz the complain 

He came here to the Court building  and 1. saw 

BY MR. MANHEIM: 

You made an appointment with him to 

And interviewed him? A Yes. 

Q And of course Dt liat2 is not Very friendly 

boy who shot him, is he:? 

TEE COURT: Do you 'know if that is so. 

BY MR. MANHEIN: 

Q., • Why do you hesitate so long? 

MR. KRESEL: I object. This doctor doe, 

of his own knowledge whether the man iS friendly 1) 

Objection sustained. Exception. 

Q, What Mr Matz told You, You did not 

whether that was correct? A No. 

Q, You merely took his word? A. That was all 

Q, Implicitly, did you? A NOt implicitly. 

(1 You believed it? A f believed it. 

4 And took it and acted upon it, in forming the judgment 

about this boyls present mental condition? A No, that act 

did not have anything to do with that. It was the other two. 

that mainly influenced me. 

Q That had no affect upon you? A Practically none, 

but confirmed--
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q You do n 

said about him, 

t know if that 

do you? 

Q Fe was the man who was shot--you d 

is true or not, do you? 

Objected to as having :been already answere 

Q You heard this boy was charged with larceny opop 

A Yes, I think I saw the Court record. 

Q• And that, and the fact that he sh t Dr Matz an 

charged with larceny $63 worth of goods, something like:  

those two acts--

THE COURT: $300 worth of 

MR. MA/MI.1T: The 'charge 

you will look at the record. 

BY MR. MANHEIM: 

(Continuing:) So the fact that he Shot Dr Mk; 

Dr Matz was not a doctor—at the 

make. 

MR. KRESEL: 

time when it occurre 

object. What difference does 

Objection sustained. 

BY MR. MANHEIN: 

Q (Continuing:) And the fact 

larceny, those are the 

that he was charged with 

two facts upon which you base your pVe 

exit judgment? A. Yes. 

Now, if this boy at the time 

hand cleaning it if at that time he 

he had this pistol in bit 

aimed it and shot if at 



 ....111••••=1.,•"" 

that time he was suffering from a private disease, and if h 

was taking various medicines at that time fvr that, f be was n 

a weakened condition, being in that condition, could it not 

have been that he might lose his consciousness for the moment 

what he was doing and aim that pistol? 

Objected to. Sustained. Exception. 

NR. ITANHEIU: I will follow it 

THE COURT: You see, Mr Manheim you want to. ques-

tion Prof. Walsh as to the present mental'condtion of the 

defendant, because if you proceed in this line, you are 

apt to develop a case which will confirm the theory of the 

People. This inquiry is directed to this issue whether 

the defendant is now in such a state of idiocy, imbeoility, 

lunacy or insanity, so that in the event of his releatte-

he would become a danger and a menace :to .he public safety. 

That is the present issue, and if you are going,to guess' 

tion back as to what occurred two years ago --

MR. ITAITHEIY: The Doctor says that he bases his 

present judgment on those two acts that- the boy committed 

two or three years ago --that is what he says he bases his 

present judgment upon. 

THE COURT: Beside the objective examination that he 

made of the defendant --is that right, Professor? 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

BY 1TR. YAITIEET: 



Q You said his eyes somewhat protruded there are many 

people that have eyes that protrude like that. Yes. 

Q And some people have eyes that e abnormally sunk n 

in their head, and I hope you will pardon me for saying it 

your eyes seem to be well sunken in your: head, more than •ordi* 

narily—and, other peoples eyes protrude more than ordinar 

• A Yes. 

Ri And some people have beads with a big front and °there 

have heads with a little front? 

Objected to. Sustained. Exception. 

Now, then, you say from the fact that he Shot in Augi. 

ust and. was convicted of larceny about two years ago, 11.4, 
that you 
base your conclusion that at the present time it will 

ous to allow him to go at large? 

/AR. KRESEL: I object. That question has been as 

and answered. 

Sustained and exception. 

MANHEIM: If he says that upon those two acts 

he formed his present opinion, have I not the right to ask 

him if he does or not, without prompting from the District 

Attorney. 

DT COURT: He has answered it. .You have a mistaken 

notion in this case Mr Nanheim. There is I think as 

sincere a desire on the part of the District Attorney as 

there is on the part of counsel for the defence to see 
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ip-

that this unfortunate boy should be liberated. Nobody is blOot-i, 

thirsty for this defendant, but we all have a duty to perform. 

The other jury -rendered a verdict which was referred to here,. 

nve find the defendant not guilty upon the ground Of insanity' 

at the tim of the commission of the crime, and recommended't 

the Court that this boy be sent to some institution for the 

sane. 

JAR. MANHEIN: I except to your Honor s statement 

that the jury recommended. That is no part of their Ter 

dict, they merely say ."Not guilty on the ground of inpan. 

ity." 

Thal COURT: You may have your exception. The Court 

would not assume the reaponsibility of comndtting thieb0 

upon the verdict of the jury, coming from lay witneSSeSs 

and directed an investigation be had by gentlemen 

in the science of the mind, and then have the question 

presented to a jury. Whatever the other jury did is not 

binding upon this jury, nor can this jury, nor should this 

jury be influenced by such action. All we want to inquire 

into here is whether or not this defendant is now in such 

a state of idiocy, imbecility, lunacy or insanity so that 

in the event of hjs being permitted to be at large he will 

be a danger and a menace to the public safety. That is 

the issue. 

UR. Is it not a danger and a menace to this 



''44CASOVAV",,..1S., '7"te.161.44"! 

boy when a physician is allowed to give his omnibuS pin* 

ion that it is dangerous. to al.low him at. large'?. 

THE COURT: You May examine this witness. You Are 

not being curtailed, but eamine hiM along legal 

BY R. mAITHEIY: 

Q Do you know that this boy in all his life committed 

act but shooting,and this other act about two years ago other 

of this alleged larceny, do you khow of any other act? A 1% 

Q Did you inquire about his parents? A Yes. 

Whether they are normal and sane? A Yes. 

Did you find that his parents are normal and pan 

A So far as we found. 

That 'would be a proper subject of Inquiry, wOlild it 

not, in investigating the boy's condition? -r.A: Yes. 

Q. His father and mother art, so .far as you found, :pert. 

fectly healthy, sane people? A Yes. 

Q. You found, so far at the records Of the family 

can be ascertained, that there hat been no,  insAniiy in the 

fanily A I think that is true. 

0 Would this indicate anything, to your mind, that when 

he was convicted of that offence, of  larceny of the $63 worth 

of goods, that he wassent to Elmira Reformatory; was there 

thirteen months, and was discharged at the earliest possible' 

ti, would that affect your judgment? A 1,17ot to any ap-

. 7Teciable Vrree. 
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It would not affect your judgment that at Elmira Avtiere. 

he was under observation, th.at -nothing was found the matter 

th him, would that affect your judgment any A • No. 

Would this affect your dgiient, that after being 

or six months, the boy was examined and he- was fouti there five 

to be all right mentally and they doubled him up, as they call 

it, with another inmate there, and nothing Was found the mat-

ter with him.? 

MR. "Mall-, : I object. There is no evidence to that , 

effect. 

THE COURT: I think in view of the condi. tiOn Of. 

this case great latitude should be allowed, Mr Krese 

Y.ou see, Mr. 2Tanheim, there is no evidence here upon *Moh 

the hypothetical question is based,. but. I mil], allow it.. 

(The question is repeated.) 

IMSEL: Do I understand that evidence will be 

introduced that there was such an examination made? 

TIE COURT: An examination made where? 

TM. : At Elmira. 

T. =EL: The question is whether the fact that 

this boy was examined at Elmira mentally and was found 

to be all right, whether that would alter the Doctor 

orin-* on. I simply inquire whether there is going to be any 

SUC11 evidence introduced. 

R. :,./L1:}1EI77: I will show when the boy takes the 
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stand. that after lie was there five or six inontha tboY' 

examined him, and the rule is when they find htm correct 

physically and Mentally, they double them up with soMe, 

else, and that was followed there and that no remit wa0 

found with the boy and he was discharged--behaving all 

right for the entire period. 

The objection LS overruled. 

(The question is repeated.) 

A No. 

That would not affect your judgment? 

Q, Is his head nortal. A I think that 

lucidly. 

Did the boy talk to you .lucidly? 

Sensibly? A Yes, sir, sensibly. 

Displayed no delusions? A No, none. 

Q Answered your questions plainly and simply?. 

A Plainly and simply. 

R Bore no grudges against anybody? No, T think not. 

Did not speak of any wrongs against anybody? A No.. 

0, Didn't he -talk to you like you would expect a young 

man of his age to talk to you? A I think about that, 

something perhaps was different. 

0 Soylething perhaps? A Yes—well, 04:)mthin, Was dif-

frent. He was rather careful to explain the motives for 

things, and 71ad then rather reactr for me. think nore than the 



•ordinary person would have. 

Yes, 

This boy was incarcerated in •the Tomba, was' 

And he was there, and.his fate waS 

ther he was to be allowed to go free 

in some insane asylum? 

be decided whe4 

or incarcerated perhaps 

A Yes sir. 

R And naturally any, sane person would display-an:anxie 

not to be pronounced insane and incarcerated in an insane a$Y7 

lun.0 A Yes. 

sir. 

• 

Every sane person would have that anxiety? A. Yes, 

R And every sane person would try, to show'y Oat b: 

is not crazy? A , Yes, sir. 

QJ So you say this boy displayed rather more ankiety 

about explaining -to you that he waS Sane? A. -Rather a Olifl. 

fling in the explanation of his lilotive.g. 

R Rather a cunning? A 'Yes 

0. cloil thought that was rather smart what he said? 

A No. 

Now, you would call it cunning? A- Yes. 

R If what he said was true would you call it cunning. 

then? A No. 

Q, How do you know .it was not true what he 'told you? - 

A Only as I could judge it. 

9, You do not know that? A I oannot know it.* 

OF • 
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q You saw a prominence of the thyroid glan 

Q, 

A Yes. 

Right here at the throa 

Lots of people have prominences there, 

0 
Q Lots of good, sane business people? 

though not the same sort of proMlnence. 

THE COURT: Not the same Sort of •promiOence. 

• !et-

' 

BY1111. MAMEIY: 

.0,, Are there not lots of sane healthy people that 4a.Xv 

lug busines about every day just like that (indicatImg). 

A Very probably. 

.And you say there is a sort of -what about 

A That there is scoliosis.of the. spine. 

Q, Sort of a little curvature?.' A Yes, air, 

And lots of good, sane, decent, honest people haVEL-

, that same, have they not? A Yes. 

Q, You know, if you get an ideal Apollo Belvidere that 

was sculptured by the Ancients, you might find it a perfect 

human form, but nearly everybody to -day have more or less plly$-

ical imperfection, haven't we? A Yes. 

Some have more and some have less, is not that so? 

A Yes. 

Q.7.)id :'atz say to you that he would rather have him 

incarcerated than have him allowed to Fo at large, the man 

9 
C. 



wapTshot? 

. '-
Objected to as immaterial. Objection b4t 

don't think he said that butl thIat 

He said something to that effect? 

that effect, that he would not feel AElare; 

q That he, would not feel safe if he 
A 

A If he were at large. 

q Because of his having Shot him once7-

BY THE COURT 

q Would such statement made lo7),Dr Matz 

determination? A NO. 

q And it did not? A ::TO 

Q, 

influence your 

Did you know Dr Matz before the time  you investigated 

this case? A Not at all. 

Q, 1Tever met him? 

BY R. MANHEIV: 

If it the fact that this boy' fired this revolver 

in August, 1906, and if, over two years he comtitted this act 

of stealing, and if since that time. he has been in  the Elmira 

Reformatory for thirteen months, behaved IlMselfl normally, 

and sanely, no fault found withfhilli, and if after he came from 

Elmira he worked steadily, behavi g himself and attending to 

his business like a sane man, in one place for ten months, 

would that affect your judrment as to whether it is dangerous 

A Never met him: 

for 'lin at larre no-? A 
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Would not at all? A :No. 

No natter if for the Past two years or-more,be has 

"It.-.4 „-

haved himself' like any sane person would, still that woul& not: 

affect your judgment? A No,  not under the circumstances. 

IQ, If, after he 

and if after he 

est, hardworking 

trial here about 

merit? A No. 

Q, He is a menace to the Co 

is dangerous to the community. 

conduct in Elmira or since, he left there. Q, And his 

would not affect 

ter? 

T)id 

left Elmira, if he were reformed there, 

left there he behaved himself as a good, hOft-

. 
boy should, ever since, until he was Tut on 

a month ago, that would not affect your judg-

unity? A I thi,nk Soo- he 

your judgment at all? A No. 

you consult the District Attorney about. this Mat. 

A No. 

REDIRECT-EXANINATION BY TIR. KflESEL: 

Q Will you explain to the CoUrt and jury why 

one acts, assuminr: them to be facts, as detailed by 

these vari-

the learned 

counsel, his behaving himself, his working, his having been in 

the Elmira Reformator:7--wh those acts would not affect your , 

judgment as .A the defendant's present mental condition? 

A I think that if he were in circumstances where he would not 

be afected 1z- the strenuous lif of a city, and where he would 

have such conditions around him that he would be tempted to be 
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11.1.s best that hewould not be in dangerhe_wq: 

menace to the community, but,.twice he has for 

were quite insufficient for the ordinary man, cOMm 

He is a man who IS likely for Very light motive opal t 

crime. He has some physical characteristics that incfal:ca 

that probably that condition is permanen and .ther0170e. 

opinion that if he were to be at liberty, where be woUl 

under stress and strain of excitement as in a large city 

would be likely to commit sone other crime that would br#1. 

1 

shortly before the court. 

BY THE COURT: 

q In your investigation did You find that vb.-

defendant was under indictment charged with having dieoharged 

a loaded firearm at Dr 11-tz, and before that case was tielp05w 

of, that the defendant committed the crime of larceny for %Olt:Oh 

OrdS he was sent to the Elmira Reformatory? The rec  

the court to that effect were shown re, and it meant a good 

deal in my making up my mind in the matter. 

Q How would that affect your judgment --the fact that he 

was out on bail and committed another crime? A Yes with 

all the circumstances tending to keep him from the commission 

of crime, he still committed another crime. 

BY Till', COURT: 

0 Vhat is the niedicai term used in a case of this char-

u.ct(3r, that is if he ds now suffering, or in a condition of 



nsanity kindly explain to this jury the meol 

The medical tern is paranoia, which means• 

beside himself. That the correct derivation 

• that he is not quite capable of controlling himt& 

under most of the circumstances of life control hini 

well, but under 'certain oircumatances he will do t"in 

out a motive or for very slight motives, that are •sua 

ated actions that they are likely to constitute vicIation.S., 

of law or make him a danger to the community. 

BY Mt'. KRESEL: 

q In the other words the fact that he hes, worted -for 

ten months, assuming that to be a fact, would not 

that he is not a paranoiac? A •No. 

Paranoiacs do work?. A Yes. 

Q, And may work along for five or ten years? .A Yes sir. 

QJ And those suffering from that disease, the moment ma 

come when they will do something which is rash? A Yee, .eirt 

Q Or which is a crime? .A 'Yesl'sir.. 

And the sane thing is true of his behavior, and if it 

be a fact that he behaved in that way at Elmira? . 

I should expect him to behave well in Elmira or any other asy-

lum. 

Your opinion is if he is Confined.in some reformatery 

or some institution or saae hospital, there is where he would 

behave? A Yes. 

'4'f 



And he would not be a menace to the commun 

Q Is that condition of paranoia curabl 

ally it is not. Though men often get so much better that *e 

fell that we can trust them once more, but if they are put 

under strain or stress again, then our trust may prove wrong 

Q Is the defendant's condition of paranoia acdnfirmed, 

paranoia or in its incipiency A It is probably tho:begip7 

ning of it. 

Q And in your opinion if the defendant should-fhe 'tared' 

for in .a proper medical institution, would that improve his ' 

mental condition? A Yes, sir, that is the one hope 

should be eventually a member Of :he community without dang:Or 

• 
to it. • 

BY TM. NANHEIN: 

Q, You answered me a little while ago that yOU found 

this  boy was not suffering from any delusions--was he? A NO.:: 

sir. 

Q, You said he was not? A, NO, b..e was not. 

Q That he had no delusions? A No. 

That he talked to you apparently sanely? A -Yes, 

Q., And clearheaded? A ' Yes, sir, 

Now, Doctor, is it not a fact that, the definition that 

a person having paranoia--that paranoia, or rather the defini.. 

tion of it i that a person suffering from that has system-



atized delusions? A Rot necessarily. 

took a great deal of trouble to read something 

raiiiitonnInure 

aboUt that last night—have you ever heard of Deffendorf'S b 

on Mental Diseases? 

TIE COURT': 

TEE WITNEU: Yes, ofYaI.e. 

BY NR. laramm: 

Q, You have heard of that book? 

Q,. Is he considered a competent authority? 

Prof. Deffendorf. 

(1 And his book is considered an 

A Yes. 

R It is used as a text book in all 

not? A Not all the colleges. 

0 In a great many?, A Yes, in a number of oollsges, 

Q Now, Prof. Deffendorf says the disease begins.lietWee 

the ages of 25 and 40, is that correct, you agree with Prof. 

Deffendorf? A No, not altogether. 

Q Do not agree with hie A No. 

0 This boy was only between 17 and 18 when he shot off 

this pistol? A Yes. 

Q And because he did that, and because he committed 

this larceny five or six months later, you base on that your 

judgment that he is a par6noiac? 

Objected to, sustained, and -exception. 

You answered before to ne that you base your present 

authOrity, 110.0 



judgment of him on the fact that be committed those two Sct 

That and L1  examination of him. 

q You did not find this :fendant or rather this boy 

in your examination of himl out of the ordinary, did you,- 

his conduct and speech and actions to you? 

A Does not Prof. Deffendorf Say that a person suffering 

from that disease has delusions, delusions that he is being 

persecuted, and thing's like that--have they not? A T 'suppose 

.so --most of them have. 

You did not find: this boy had any idea that he was 

being persecuted by anybody? A I could not find the mo-

tive for his --

0 You did not find that? A I could not'find the =-

five for the shooting, but I was almost sure what it was. 

Q If the boy had a secret motive for the Shooting, 

would it be human nature to tell you the motive now? 

ERESEL: ' I object. He is not qUalified to pass' 

upon human nature. 

Objection sustained, exception. 

You agree with Prof. Deffendorf in this, "Sooner or 

later in connection with these delusions of persecution, which 

are firmly held and well moulded by a coherent train of reason-

ing, there may also appear expansive dell,siens"--you agree 

with that? A Yes. 

These have these firn fixed delusions, these para-
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noia? A 17h c h they may conceal? 

Q, And if this boy did not display to you indications. 

that he had. any delusions-- xpre ssed no delusions, then you 

would think that he is concealing de lusions which he probebl. 

has? A That is the only explanation for his shoo 

Q, Be cause he shot you build .up that you. build up the 

case on that? A That and the other,' 

If he had, no motive for the shooting and had. no motive 

for the stealing, then you come to the conclusion that he muSt 

have delusions, do you? A 1To. 

The Court admonishes the jury in accordance with sec.! 

t ion 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure and take0• 

cess until 2 o'clock. 

AFTER IIECE:SS 

JAMES J. WALSH, M. D.., resumes the stand: 

CROS S -EXANINAT I 011. CONTINUED B R. 

Q, These delusions that these paranoiacs have of which 
• 

you read in the hooks, are 'Per se cut ory and expansive,.., are they 

not—two branches? A yes. 

0, Just see if yOU agree with this that I read from Prof. .-

Deffend.orf 11 s book: ,All delusions both persecutory. and expan-

F4ilre &re held. with great persistency and built out into a co-

lie7;ent SYL s an essential characteristic of. the 

disease . ” no ,'o,1 arree with t'qatc) A Yes, when the dits-
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ease is fully developed. 

'Thich is an essential characteristic of the disease 

it is an eSsential characteristic of the disease that these ..di 

lusions both persecuroty and expansive are held with great per,-

sistency? A Yes, sir. 

And built into a coherent system? 

ease is fully developed. 

When the d 

R The Doctor does not Say here about the disease being 

fully developed? A You are reading about paranoia as fully 

developed disease. 

You mean that this boy has not got any? 

an incipient stage. 

THE COURT: All that 'Prof. Walsh has testihed 

be sumnecr up as follows: That this boy has evidence (11. 

the incipient stages of paranoia and that there it no 

necessity for the confinement of this boy to an insane 
That 

institution/if he could go out in the country, in the . 

open air, within a short tine he probably would be 'oure41 

but that he must cease being active ,in :a great city lira 

this where excitenent might produce some effect upon 111316, 

BY 1,7R. TIAITHEIH: 

If this boy were employed in good, strong, healthy 

manual labor, that would help him, wouldn't it? -A Provided 

h 
that he was away from the excitement of a lar0 

V qunpoSing that he got a job in a at factsbry as a 



blocker, Where he would have to work, 

that would not 

pretty fair-Ita; 

aggraliate the disease, would it, onY 

that yau claim that he may have; physical labor an 

are better than mental? 

mind and body.. 

Q, He should have bodily exercise, and the occupation c 

blocking hats is better for him than an occupation Studying 

medicine or law, perhaps? A -Perhaps. 

A He should have occupation, 0 

R OBERT H. GREEN, called as awitness in behalf• 

of the People, being duly sworn and examined, testified 

as follows: 

DIRECT -EXAMINATION BY ER. NRESEL!. 

Q Where do you live? A 78 East .65th 

q You are a- doctor of medicine? A.-

Q And how long have you been praCticir* 

A Since 1886. 

And from what school are you a graduate?, A Lliarvard. 

Medical School. 

street, 

your profession?.. 

Q, 

, 

Will you state to the Court and jury *hat your training 

has been? A y training has been mostly that of a surgeon, 

and most of my work is surgical. I an not an expert on eagles of 

insanity as t,le term would be ordinarily Considered. 

0 TTLve 7,o17 in tbe course. of your practice since 1866 . 

had occasion to examine patientS troubled wt li mental disease04? 
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Q And did you examine this young man? Yes, 

Were you at the time of your examination in 'the.bam4,. 

pany of Dr Walsh? A Yes. 

twice. 

oJ 

Q How many times did you examine him? A I saw h m 

On each occasion in the company of Dr Walsh? . A Yes' 

Will you please state to the Court and jury what your 

examination of him covered? A Well, we examined him on two 

different ocCasions. We examined. him physica1ly We listened 

to his story. We went over the testimony on the caSe for 

which he had been indicted for shooting, and we also aent far 

and had a conversation with. Dr Matz,, who was the prosecutor. 

Q Speak louder? A We examined him physically twice'. 

We went over the testimony of the case as given in court when 

he was up for trial for the Shottingy and we also interviewed 

the man whom he shot or shot at, Dr 3."atz. 

Q. LTow, with regard to his physical condition, what. did: 

you find? A In a general way his -physical cOndition was 

good. lie Il_ad certain deviations from normal, no one of which 

would be considered as proof of anything out of the way with 

his nervos or'nental state, hut all taken together would tend 

to show tit -at lie is vIlat woul'd be termed of a nervous neurotic' 

temnerament, 

v!V-rt rerrard to his mental condition what is your • 
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,opinion based upon ,your examination? 

"Awrietc.filarecit'  • 

thiirk he is sur 

ng from a rental disease in its incipient stages) and thir* 

that he should be kept for a time under observation and .same 

sort of restraint, with the hopes that eventually he may 

considered perfectly safe to join the rest of the community. 

Q, What is your opinion based upon, aU.. that you have 

found in your investigation, as to whether it would be safe o 

at the present time allow this young iun to beat large and 

without any restraint? A I think no+,. I think that be 

should be kept under some restraint. 

q Do you think it would be dangerous to the public 

peace and safety to allow him now at large? A I th.l.nlc it 

'would be. 

CROSS-EXAMI-4ATION BY MR. MATIBEIVI: 

Q, You say you came to the conclusion froM the physi41 

examination that he is of a nervous temperament? Yes. 

Q _Many of us are of a nervous temperament,. Are we not?. 

A We are. 

Q Some great doctors are extremely irritable;. their 

nerves are so highly strung that the slightest cause would set 

them off, is not that true? A I am unacquainted with any 

411 

great doctor of that type, but :It may be true. 
A 

And some of us are more or less nervous? Some more and. 

some less. 



Q. And you found him of a nervous teinperamen 

eral physical condition is good,. he is quite strong 

is he not? A Appar”tly. 

R You say you had a talk ;Arith Dr Matz? 

Q The man who was shot. A Yee,' 

Q, And did not Dr Vatz tell you that he would rather n 

have this boy at large? A Dr Matz said that he was afralli 

that if he were left at large he would shoot ,him again. 

Q He did not tell you that this "bcTy had ever approached' 

him or did anything to him since the time Of the occurrende„. 

did he? A No. 

Q He did not tell you that he had ever met the bo 

since? A Tfot to my recoll.ction. 

P. He never gave you any occurrence, after the 04Coti4,. 

that led Dr Matz to be afraid, did he? A Not to my rec01 

lection. 

P. The mere fact that this boy shot him once is what 

produced the fear in his mind that it nift,t possibly happen 

again? A T. presume so. 

Q, He did not tell you that the boy had ever gone his 

way, Or gone near him, or sought him out? A No. 

Some .people have more apprehensive minds than others,. 

haven't they? 

Objected to. 

Q Tie conduct of the boy since --would not the conduct of . 
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the boy for the past two years tend to throw some lit/At lipoO. 

his .disposition? A That is rather a difficult question for 

me to answer. 

answer it. 

q . You would want to know What 't e boy• did for the last 

two years? A Yes. 

q You did not ascertain that the boy had done anything in 

If you could put in some other form 1 to 

the last two years to justify your opinion .of his present con!!_ 

ditio did you? . A That is a difficult question to answer 
• 

by yes Or no  I Should have to give a modified answer to that 

question. 

14R. KRESEL: Give whatever answer you desire. 

A I think from the fact of the boy's good behavior in 

the last two years, to my mind, would 1e6 me ,to hope that in. 

time he would overcome this disease, or as far as it goes it - 

is a good symptom. 

BY 7R. YANEEITT: 

Q That is a very good symptom, the fact that he has be-

haved himself and done 'nothing the last two years? A I 

think so. 

q And continued tIle even tenor of his way? A I'think 

it is. 

s:.-rvrtom indicates that if there was anything the 

matter wit:1 hin at the tine of this occurrence, two and al half 

or nea-1, .h-ee yebrr, aro, t" at his future conduct seems to 
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,a,.r.r..eyvvro . 

Prove that those -tendencies were being 

BT THE :COURT: 

Q, Would the fact that f the last two yaarp 

has behaved hiMself and been free from any vicious 00 

your judgment as to his present *mental condition? 

that from the history of What the boy' has done in the PO 

.the boy Should be kept under restraint for some time langar 

that does not rob the boy of the hope that he may eventualiy, 

be considered safe to go out in the coMmunit, 

BY MR. MATHEIN: 

Q You have not answered:his-Honor question, -but you 

liminated?' 

have gone ahead and repeated what you orig1na4vSaid tO. 

Kresei. I ask that the stenographer read his Honor !. 

and that the witness answer it. 

TIT WITNESS: Will the ptencgraPher pl6ase read 

question. • 

(The question is repeated as -follows: By the Court; 

Q Would the fact that for the -past tno years the 1W.. 

has behaved himself and been free, from any Vicious act$4. 

alter your judgment as to his present mental condition?) 

A If his Honor will excuse me, 1 hardly understand the 

question. 

BY THE COURT: 

q The fact that the boy has behaved himself for the laOt . 

two years and lAas not conndtted any vicious cr criminal act 



during that period, would that change your 'opinion as 

'Present condition of the b s -nand? I think 1."4‘wil#14 

tend to give a more hopeful look for the future. 

BY ER. MANTIEIN: 

And the future is judged by the pas 

Objected to. Sustained. 

TEE PEOPLF, REST. 

LOUIS SOKOLINSKY, called asawitness in his 

own behalf, being duly sworn and examined, testified 

DIRECT-EXAKINATION BY 1;111. VANTTETIT: 

You have been confined in he Tombs since When?. 

A Since March 9. 

Q, That is the day you were acquitted 

you have been in the Tombs since? A Yes. 

Q, Now, it has been said here that yOU .0:ottnitted a ler* 

ceny for which you were sentenced to the Elmira rl,efOrmat'Ory, 

just tell this jury where you were working at the time when 

this larceny was committed? A I was working for the BtlrOlca 

3:eckwear Company, West Houston stteet and Broadway. 

0, How nuch were you getting? A t4 a week, 

13.:f21-e that time where had you been working? A Be 

fore that tine I was wbrking for . Davis, and previous to Mr 

Dvi I was worhin7, for Zadak Brothers, 7.5 Broadway. 

4-40 
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row leng before yOU worked for the Eureka Neckwear' 

Company did You work for the Zadak Brothers? A More than 

--three years ago. 

q Did you work at a. place where you were dischar 

they found outthat you had this trouble about this assault? 

A Yes. 

Q, You worked there also? A Yes. 

When they found out that you had this trouble about' 

shooting Matz, were you discharged? The bond company with-

drew my bond. 

Q As soon as they foUnd out 

trouble about Shooting Matz? 

that you were under this 

Ye s. 

Q They withdrew your bond? A Yes. 

Q, Then could you get a job under your own Iiaine 

A No, sir. 

Q, And then did you take an aseumed name to get this jo'4, 

at g4 a week? A Yes, sire 

q Tell this jury frankly and candidly :how it was:you 

came to steal? A I,was working for the Eureka Neclorear Com-

pany, and I net, in the meantime --I net a number of young men, 

about three young men, and they persuaded me to steal, to com..! 

mdt that offence. You see, I was*earnang very small wages at 

the time, and I was tempted to camnit that. I. was sorry after-

wards. I tried to do nu best to atone for that. 

Were you sentenced to the Elmira Reformatory for that, 
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H:Yea 

'Q How long were you there? A I was 

months. 

Q Have you ever stolen before in your life or after* 

NO, sir. 

Q What .does your father do? 

tory as blocker. 

Q, How many children are there? 

children. 

You are the eldest? 

R Did I ask you how long yOU, were 

A fes.. 

Thirteen months—is that the lowest 

a discharge? A yes. 

q With good behavior? A -Yes. 

Q If you do not behave yoUrself youHhave to sta. 

Yes. 

Q But if you do behave you can get Out in:thirtee 

months? A Yes. 

Q After you were there five or six months were you 

examined? A Yes. 

By when? A By a doctor.. 

Q Tell the jury about that, why they examined you and 

what they did?. A After I vas there more than six months*, 

about six months, I was examined by 4 doctors and when you ar 
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examined a d they find out that you are not suffering -from 

epilepsy o there is nothing the matter with you mentally or 

physically so as not to do the other man any injury, they 

double you up. If you are even a vicious character they w 

double you up. 

Q What do you mean by doubling you up? They Pu 

in a room. 

Q And after you were examined and found to be all rig 

mentally mentally and physically were you doubled up with the other man? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Huw, long were you doubled Up with hi A I w 

doubled up with him about five months. 

Then what happened? A In the meantime I was doub-

led up with him and the Board of Managers authorised my parole--

those men in the Board of Managers), they decided that I was fit 

to be at large, and they ask you whether You are reformed or'. 

not and what your intentions are about the future: 

Q, Go on? A They ask you what your intentions are 

for the future and whether you won't commit any crime any more 

and they being assured of that, issue your parole. They agree 

:“)11 shall go out and start in to work. Y4T4.have td :have a 

job before rQ get out, and you have to report six months', 

and then you get your absolute release,, which 1 got. 

And so aftet ;.!ou Were discharged did you look for 

work? A Well, after T Was ddscharged from the institution 
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work, but I write to my friends that thy 

should obtain employment for M2. 

Q, Did you get employment? Yes. 

Q With Whom did you get e1eyment after you were 

charged from that institution? A With Mr Louis Horowitz,.. 

418 Flushing avenue. 

Is he some relative of yours? Yes. 

0, What relative? A Uncle of mine. 

R Tell this jury what Yr HoroWitz's business is and 

what you did for him in his bueinese- ' Mr Horowitz con-

• ducts a drygoods business, .gents rygoOds and Shoes, and I 

came into his business as a g±'e01-1 person--I.knew nOtb4n —t-

ever about the business, and after staying there about 01,X:' 

months I acquired knowledge of the business to such at extent 

that he left me in full control of that business, .and he allow-

ed me to sell and buy goods. He had full conflae.nce in me. 

He would go away and leave the business in my charge and there 

would be any number of customers in there and I-would attend 

to them. 

(), ince you have been discharged ,have you Tva.d any tempta-

tion to take anybody else's property? No. 

(I Do you want any-body elte's property? A No, sir. 

Q. *That do you want? A T simply want to be free:. - I 

want to work. That is all I want. 

Q, How long were you working that way for Mr Horowitz, ' 



steadily? A Ten months. 

Q, After that did you try and better 

you learn your father' trade? Yes. 

Q, What did you do? A I was working ten months by 3,1r 

Horowitz, and I decided that T Wanted earn larger Wages', 

told my father that I would like to ear Ids trade, and he; 

agreed to it, and I went up in my father s thopand in about 

four weeks time I learned.this trade, Skilled trade, and joined. 

.the union, 

Q, What trade is .that? A Working on. a hydraulic press 

=chine. 

Q Blocking hats? A Yes you take the hats from t11. 

operator --it looks like a rag almost., and just operate it/ (nit 

and operate it, and you put it into Shape, 

Q What are the hours at -work there? 

eight to six. 

Q Do'you like that work? A Yes. 

Q And you would like to go there and work 

A.es. 

From about 

What you earn, what did: you do ,with that? 

that to ny father whatever I earned. 

0, And all the tine since you came from lamira you have 

gone hone and stayed at hone and lived with .your people?. 

A Yes. 

t that trade? 

Q And very glad to do it? A 'Yes. 

I gave 



And very glad to go to work? A Yee, e 

Have you ever gone to see Dr Mate - A 2101... 

On whom this injury was originally inflicted? 

Do you bear him any grudges at all? 

Q Do you wish him any harm at all? A No. 

Q Are you sorry you ever harmed him? 

Q. You You were never in trouble in all your life except 

that elooting and this larceny? A No, no other trouble. 

Q Do you think that being in Elmira those *thirteen 

months did you good? A Yee, eir. 

9, You have had time to think of any_errors that, 

committed before? A Yee. 

Q What did you do there all that time? A 

learned a trade there. 

.0„ What trade was that? A Sign painting. 

Q And did you at first think that you might pos00 

get -a job at that? A I thought I might g t'a job'at 

but found out it is hard to get a jab unless you belOng to the 

union, and the unionwon't give you the Job. The union W014V 

accept you, because I had no commercial knowledge about the 

trade. I only knew that as an amateur. 

Q So then it was that you went to Horowitz? A Yet 

Q And now you learned this trade of hat blocking? 

A Yee, sir. 



F491rt,_ 

• OROS -EXAMINATION BY R. KRESEL: 

You have not been asked how old you are? 

How old are you? A I am between 20 Ali 

Q When was your last birthdaY? I don't know 

my birthday was. 

Q, where were you born? A Russia. 

Q, How long were you when you came to this, coun 

A About two years old. 

(I Did you go to school here? A 

Q How far did you advance in school? 

second grammar. 

Q How long since you have been out Of 

left school when I was fourteen. 

Q Now, you remember the day when you shot Dr Metz*. 

you remember the day? 

IffR. MANHEIM: I object. I do not think it is, 

proper to go into that. We tried that all out, and it 

is no use going into that. 

THE COURT: As a memory test, I think it might be 

referred to. 

A I know the date, what I heard. 

Q You know the day? A Yea. 

Q. Tell the Court and jury Why you shot Dr Matz? A I 

can't recollect any reason for Shooting Dr Matz. 

Q You have nO recollection whatsoever? A No, sir. 
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• .Subsequent to shooting Dr Vats you Stole 

:Neckwear Company? A Yes. 

Q, You told this jury that you were 

by other people? A Yes. 

Q Do you know—the way yoU 'Stole th080., g00 

were given to you to deliver? A Yes,'sir.: 

Q To.a man named Ireland? Yes- _ 

And you were instructed to get a.receApt for1*4 

A Yes. 

Q And you brought back t forged receipt,, didn't 

Objected to. CbjeCtiOn overruled. -

Q. You remember that?. A': The. 

Now, at that time how Old were you? 

tween 18 and 19. 

Q You had been out of school 'about four 

A Yes. 

0 In the meantime you had worked?'A Yoe. 

a You had. worked for Mr Davis for S. number of yeare 

A About a year and a half. 

Q There was not anything the matter with you at that 

time, you were perfectly well, werentt you? A Well, I Was 

perfectly well up to the time when I. contracted this disease.. 

Q At the time that you stole from the Eureka Neckwear' 

Company were you well? A Yes. 

Q You had been cured of that nervous or private die-



e, Or whatever it was? A Yes. 

Q Now, do you mean to say that you were Pe 

other people to commit a crime? A Weil--

Q You knew it was a crime to steal didn't yell? A 

Q You knew it at that time as well as you know it now? 

A Yea. 

Q Do you mean to say to this jury that you were of 

frame of mind at that time that other persons could persuade 

:Oka 

you to steal? A Wela, I don't know how to answer that qUeSe. 

• tion, but many people are persuaded to rsteal. They are net 

earning enough wages as in my case, and If they get, an tipper" 

tunity to steal, and they are persuaded to it all this 

to make them commit that crime. 

Q What was it at that time., was: it that you had the op-

portunity to steal and that you: seized that opportunity or was 

it that you were persuaded to steal" A You Impw,you-aliars 

have opportunity to steal if you Want to take that opportunity:, 

and I had that opportunity and I -was persuaded to de it. 

Q How were you persuaded? A Well--

Q You had this package in charge' A Yes.: 

Q It belonged to your employer? A Yes, • 

Q. You were sent to deliver it? A Yes. 

Q Now, what happened after you got it in your charge 

- that you construe as persuasion on the part of other people? 

A Well, you know on $4 a week you cannot--



ik,‘ ,*7000, 

• I do not talk about your wages? ant to ,give 

you the reason. 

Q Vie are coming down now to the queStion of per 

what was it that was done or said to you that you nOW aOnstiU0 

In a persuasion to steal? A Well, they advised me to do Ati 

They showed re that they were living better than me, that the 

had spending money which I did not have, and they said that I 

could have the sane thing if I only want to. do i 

Q And they told ynu to steal? 

Q You will stand upon that? 

Q That is the truth, is it? 

A Yes. 

Yes. 

Yes. 

Q That you at that time 17 years old entrusted with,:a 

package by your employer--
. 

the time. 

was not 17 years old At 

Q I understood you to say it was 1/? A NO, air. 

Q 19? A You understood me to say between 18 and 190 

• Entrusted with this package at that tine realizing 

that to steal was a crime, notwithstanding all that, because 

these men or boys or whoever they were, told you that if you 

stole that you would have money to spend, you stole It that 

is right? A Yes. 

0 Did you ever have any trouble with a servant girl at 

Davies house? A No, sir. 

0. You know the occurrence I am talking of, perhaps you 

don't consider it as trouble --won't you tell us about that? 
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I don't know of any trouble with any servant girl. 

Q Did you ever pursue a servant girl and try tO da 

her some harm?. A No. 

Q For whatever reason it may have been? 

0 Sure of that? A Yes. 

C). At Elmira, when you were examined, were you examined, 

as to your mental condition? A I never asked them. I am 

not given the opportunity to ask how they examined no, but 

they examined me thoroughly. 

Q You have told us here, as I have underatood You, that 

you were examined physically and mentally, is that right? 

A Yes, they asked me --

0 That is all T want to know? A Yea. 

0 I want to direct your attention to that part of 70 

examination which you call mental? A Yes. 

Q You understand? A Yea. 

Q Are you sure they examined you as to your mental con. 

dition? A Yes. 

0, You are sure? A Yes. 

• Had you done anything or said anytbing in Elmira. 

which made it necessary for them to examine you as to your 

mental condition? A No, sir. 

You were perfectly rational there juat as you are 

here? A Yes. 

Q But what induced you to shoot Dr Matz, you cannot 
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611 us? . A No, sir., 

• Yo U dc not know now? A No, 'dlr. 

Q Three years after that occurrence' you cannot tell 

Court and jury what it Was that induced you to shoot this num, 

is that right? A You know, yourgbilf. 

Q What? A You know that yourself. I don't know any*• 

thing about that. 

I would like to have this jury know if, you can tell 

them? A I cannot tell the jury. , 

Q You cannot tell them? A No. 

Q When you say that I know myself, you refer to dome-

thing you cannot explain? A No, I mean by that that you' 

know yourself that I cannot tell as it was brought out at  

other trial when I was charged with felonious assault. 

Q You now say that you cannot account to this jury:ehy 

you shot him, is that right? A Yes. 

Absolutely no reason that you can assign? 

sir. 

0. You had no trouble with the man? A No..  

Before this occurrence? A NO, sir. 

Q You had no motive to shoot him so ai to rob tam or. 

anything of that sort? A No, sir. 

Q You simply had an impulse to, and you Shot, that it 

right? A I don't know about that. 

Q What? A I don't know about the impulse. 



You remember that just before you shot Dr Mitt you 

were cleaning this revolver? 'A Yes, sir. 

Q And just at the time that you were cleaning 

trying to decide whether to return it to the drills' were 

to dispose of it, you remember you told us that? A 

And then you shot him? A Yes. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Shot him in the back, didn't you? 

BY MR. KRESEL: 

Q What? A Yes. 

Q And you told us as I recall it now, that you did not 

wake up from that condition of mind until several days after 

the shooting, do you remember that? A Yes. 

MR. MANMEIn: He said he woke up in Jeffers 

Police Court. He did not know how ling it w 

BY MR. KRESEL: 

Q It was long enough for your father to cone there- and 

shows you a clipping in a newspaper that you had shot thiS Man 

A MY father did come there. 

Q, And that was the first time you realized, you told 

us then, and I suppose you say so now, the. first time you the 

realized that you had shot anybody? A YOIS 

Q Up to that time your mind was a perfect blank, is 

that right? A Yes. 

Q From the time that you shot until the time that year 



' 

the? came,io you with this newspaper clipping you did !nOt 

know 'Wit happened? A No: 

C You did not know if you were arrested?' 

Q You don't remember being confronted  with 

in an .injured condition? No. 

Q• You don't remember the officers coning? 

Q You don't remember going to the Police Station'? 

No. 

Or to the Police Court? 

BY THE COURT: 

No. 

(1 At the time that you committed the crime of larceny 

you were aware that you were under an indictment for 40: 

leged shooting of Dr Matz? 4 .es., 

A Yes. 

And you realized the Court had power PUniS 

When you appeared before re at the time that 

tenced you to Elmira Reformatory) You appeared MAIM 

name, is that right? A Yes. 

You • 
Q Do you remember that here In this courtitappeared uni 

an assumed name? A. I .was ashamed to let my people IMO* 

was in trouble. 

Q You were ashamed to let yeur people know 

in trouble? A Yes. 

Q Do you recall whether I asked you to _eve your trUillt 

name? A After a time I did give you my true =Ws 

u 'warp 



Q Did you give an assumed name in .court tor the purpoom 

of concealing the fact that you mere under another indictment 

charged with felonious assault? A I never had any such 

intention, because I was under bail, you see, and would no 

want to forfeit this bail, 

BY MR. ERESEL: 

Q You said something about assuming a different nane 

when you were looking for a job, do you repenter? A Yee. 

What name did you then assume? A Harry Goldfarb. 

Q What was the name that you gave when you were arrested 

for stealing? A Frand Reed. 

Q What is the other name besides Harry Goldfarb and 

Frank Reed that you went under? A ; went under the'imma 

I simply registered at a hotel as Louis Goldstein. 

Louder? A I registered under the name of Golii 

in a hotel. 

Q Was that before you stole or after? A After. 

Q Was that when you were out on bail? A Yes. 

Q, You were out on bail, weren't you, after your arrest 

for stealing? A Yes. 

q And pending your trial? A Yes. 

Q At what hotel was it that you registered? A ,The 

Mills Hotel. 

Q Weren't you living with your people? A T was 

living with my people, but I was afraid I would be apprehended' 



V. • 

if' I went home, and so I thought 1 would 
for a couple of weeks. 

Was that before your arrest for 

Q And it was after the stealing? 

stealing. 

Q That is after you stole and before you were apprehe 

d, you left home and went to the Mills Hotel and regietere 

under an assumed name? A Yes. 

BY MR. ITANEBIM: 

Q, At that time of this occurrence with 

were working there at the same place for his uncle, 

Davis? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And you were cleaning this revolver at the ti 

A Yea, sir. 

Q It was in the place? A Yes. 

Q, You bought it to celebrate the Fourth/ A res. 

Q And this was August? A I bought it in Aar. 

Q And this occurrence was in August?. A. Tost 

Q, At the time of that occurrence there was somethtatr tad. 

about your being sick at that time --what were you sick with at 

that time? A 'Gonorrhea. 

q Were you taking different medicines for that? A Yee. 

q Some that you got in the advertisenente, in the paper? 

A Yes. 

q And some you got where else? A Some that I got Ow-, 



.4 1.2 

,T1.`77.4 fSmora, 

I got some in advertisements and some got in the Goo 

Dispensary and that I happened to see. 

In those de:Ye did you go around with oiher c. 

with Wham you have not gona around since? I didu 

any company. 

Q, You brought on that disease that you got in eertai 

communications, I mean—with certain associationS, 

you contracted that disease? A I did not keep 

any one. 

(1 But you got that disease through having company With. 

somebody? A Yes. 

A No, 

Since that time have you gone with any 

sir. 

And this time when you were cleaning that-pidtol* 

tell us what did happen, were you aUffering with-tWO 4 

A Well, I was suffering for about a month with thei..t.: 

before this occurrence, and T took a cloths-!it. was .timebo.. 

case up and Dr Matz--he was not doctor then—only ak.3004iCSi 

student--went to close the rear windows, and I went to 0100 

the front windows, and I went to put some of the papers Oar 

that were laying on the desk that had to be locked up, import. 

ant papers, and the revolver was kept in that drawer, and T.Ina 

a key to that so did Mr Davis, and I got in the habit whenevitr 

noticed that revolver, to clean it—when you put a revolver 

In a drawer to keep the air off It, it gets rusty, damp, and 



OA not want it to get rus Y, and I used to 
wipe 

this cloth, d after that I don't know what happt# 

recall anything after that. 

Q That shooting is, as Mr Kresel Says, that 

A Yes, sir. 

Q But you know you had the revolver 

your hand? A Yes, sir. 

Q Have you ever had any revolver since that time? 

A No, sir. 

cl Or touched any revolver? .A :No  sirl 

Q, Or had any idea of getting any revolver? 

Q Or any knife or any weapon? A No. 

Q Do you carry anything dangerous about you? 

• sir. 

RECROSS-ErAMINATION: 

Q When you were arrested for this stealing of co 

realized that you had done wrong? A Yes. 

Q Did you tell the truth on the trial as to lina 

pened with that package? A No, sir. 

Q1 You did not? A No. 

Do you remember that you testified that youtook that 

package and handed in a receipt book and the receipt was , vvp 

back to you with the signature orvit? 

Objected to. Objection Withdrawn. 

4, 



ert f:v.51,1gie.s 

cl Inv- didn't you tell the truth on the trial 

persuaded to tell a falsehood on the trial also? 

Why didn't yoU tell the truth? A Well, no man w 

to be punished—he tries to evade punishment. 

Q And in order that you might not be punished for tuitr 

stealing, you went on the stand and testified to a falsehood 

is that right? A Yes. 

Q You realized at that time, did you not, that. it was 

wrong to tell a lie under oath? A I did, and.1 •adMitted4 
• 

after I was convicted that I WAS guilty of the cringe. 

Q After you were convicted then you admitted that 7011 

were guilty? A Tee. 

BY MR. MAMMY: 

Q To whom did you admit it? A To h Honor. 

Then you told his Honor that you were guilty =diem, 

wanted to admit that the punishment t was going to be even 

to you was deserved? A Yes. 

Q And you think you did deserve it? A Yes, sir. 

FRANK E. WEST, called asawitness in behalf Of 

the defence, being duly sworn and examined, testified as 

follows: 

DIRECT-EXAMINATION BY MR. MAMMY: 

Q, Where do you live? A 172 Clinton street  Brooklyn. 

Q, What is your business? A Practicing physician. - 



11, How long have you been such? Ai Tbir 

.In this city' A Borough or Bto0 

Ct Are you connected with some institution 0,04'. 

.lyn? A res. 

Q What institution? A Professor of Iffi 

Long Island College. Visiting Physician at the HO 

suiting Physician at the Brooklyn City Hospital, 

Hospital. 

Q How long have you been professor in the Ion .11, 

, 
Medical College? A Twenty Odd YV 

Q HOW long have you beenYisiting Physician 

other hospital? A I couldn't tell you aeverai 

Q During that time in your practice and in yo 

ence as a physician have people come under YOui-:Obiert 

who were suffering from mental troubles? A Yes,. 

Q About how many? A I couldn't state -in gen 

practice naturally one sees a, great many such 

Q Have you made-a -study of the subject? A I do 

claim to be a nerve specialist, no, tit. 

Q Do you know when a man 10 afflictedWith mental 

ease? A I have an opinion. 

q That is all that any doctor or professor can Itet 

opinion? A I suppose so. 

BY MR. KBESRL: 

Q And you have yours? A Yee, sir. 



man% 

q Have you examined this boy? 

Q Where did you examine him? 

Prison. 

Q How many times? A Only once. 

Q From your examination of the boy, 

ther there is any mental trouble from which he i 

A So far WEI I could determine there was no 

ance. I could not discover any evidence of inSanity.: 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Are you an examiner in lunacy? 

Q Have you been appointed as such? 

alienist or anything of that sort--in general praet 

THE COURT: I do not think he 

the rule. 

MR.KREZEL: No, but I aftt willing 

man testify for whatever it is worth.. 

THE WITNESS: I have qualified to teS000 

.committing of people. I Ap not claim :t bit'aqttalift 

expert. That is what I mean.. 

THE COURT: I will allow the testimony for 

is worth, but of course after all the testimony 'Of an ex 

pert witness, no matter how profound a sobaar t 

ness is, is solely for the purpose of enlightening the lay,: 

mind, and it is a matter for the jury to deterpine *0 



question of fact in the light of all the testim 

ing your awn opinion from your observation arid fr. 

history Of the case as to the condition of the. de 

ant's mind, and the jury is not bound to accept 

many of any expert. 

BY MR. MANHEIM: 

(I Now, Dodtor, you saya great many peisons hate' 

'under your observation who were suffering from mental troublee 

A Yes, sir. 

Q When a person is suffering from mental/trouble you 

know, do you not, when the case comes under your observatto 

you have an opinion? A I have my opinion yes. 

Q From your experience and from, your studies? 

0, When you examined this boy Was he rational? A Y 

Did he display any of .the symptoms at all of a pars 

suffering with any mental disorder? A .Tro, none that I• 

could discover. 

Q, You have heard of the mental disease Of paranoia, 

haven't you? A Yes. 

Q Do you know that the symptom, that one Of the most 

pronounced symptoms of paranoia is that the patient suffers 

from systematized delusions? A Yes. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Do you know that to be the tact? A That is the 

definition of paranoia, delUelonal insanity. 



, 
That is the very definition of it, de lona' Instill 

And when a person is suffering from that 

in the slightest conversation be discovered? A 

in the slightest conversation, but if you follow it up 

generally determine what that one delusion may be. 

Q And did you have an extended conversation 

boy? A Tess sir, about an hour. 

Q  An hour? A Yes. 

QI And did he have the slightest delusion Upon say -Sub-

ject? A No. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Paranoiacs are able to express .themselves 

gently are they not? A Yes, sir. 

Q And capable of writing coherent sentences? A Yes, 
sir. 
'Q, Excepting that the particular affliction which diOtUrb102 

the mind sometimes manifests itself in the courSe:.of the con-

versation? A Yes, sir. 

And the tendency of a paranoiac is to do What—What 

particular form of crime does a paranoiac Commit? A What 

particular form of crime? 

Q, Or wrong? A It may be--it depends 'upon the form in 

which the delusion takes. 

BY MR. KRESEL: 



q•Crimes of violence, all of them., are they not? . 

A laty: apt to be. 

BY -THE COURT: 

Q Are they as a rule.absolutelY all,triMes of violenie 

and all acts of Violence? A ',yes, sir, pretty apt to be. 

BY MR. W1flHE1M: 

Q This delusion--the paranoiac) does not consider 

lusion, does he? A No, sir. 

Q He considers that an evident fact?.A air. 

cz And does not want to bide that/ A It is true to 

him., 

Q It is true to him and he ry frank in expressing 

it to everybody on every possible occasion/ A es Sir--

just excuse me a moment--you take some paranoiacs Who suffer 

from the exalted form of delusion--

Q Louder. A The paranoiac who suffers from the ex 

alted form of delusion may not .be violent or homicidal. 

Q But that delusion is true and real to him? A Yes, 

sir. 

Q And he has no idea of pressing it at all, has he/. 

A No, it is real to him. 

Q Just as teal as anything else he would Ao or say/ 

A So much so that it is a well recognized fact that they 

oftentimes can persuade some of their family that they are 

right, or some of their friends that they are right in their 



.y.`" 't 
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•-delusions. , 
Int 

Q And try to persuade their family and Poor 

Wham they came in contact they are right on that 00 

A Yes, sir. 

9, They may have a delusion that they are being 

ted or a delusion that they are the son of a king 

so? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Or that Helen Gould is in love with them, but that  

they are keeping him away from her, and things of that kind'? 

A I don't know anything about H len Gould. 

THE COURT: There is no use in using the 114M0 of 

particular person. 

MR. MANHEIY: It is in this book--there' ie 

tion intended-1 night as well say some exalted per 

THE COURT: She is a very exalted woman. 

MR. MANHEIM: I agree with your }Tonal'. 

BY MR. MANHEIM: 

Q You agree with this that Prof. Deffendorf says, 

delusions both persecutory and expansive axe held with great 

persistency and build out into a coherent system Which is an 

essential characteristic of the disease"? _A pea, Sir. 

Q Is not that an essential characteristic of the die,. 

ease? A Yes, sir. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. KRESEL: 

q Do you say that it is an invariable symptom of 



Tr, ',T.' 7 4,111rair 

paranoia that the subject has systematised delusions 

is one of the classifications of paranoia. 

Q - I do not ask you that--is it one of the invariable 

symptoms of paranoia that the subject has Systematized dellp. 

zions? A Yes, sir; I think it is. 

Q, In other words you will say and say now to the jury 

that no person is suffering from paranoia unless Y u find that 

he has what you term systematized delusions? A Yes, sir. 

Q Is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you say that sane thing is true 

cipient paranoia, where the disease has not progressed to the 

point where it can be really called 114:Ein91.a? 

may I explain a moment--

Q, If you will answer that question? 

swer it yes or no without an explanation. 

Q All right, I will have your explanation? A Para 

noia oftentimes is insidious. in its manifeStations!It Will -

suddenly break out--where one has not been--where they have 

not carefully investigated the thing, it may be that all of ;iv 

sudden a person breaks out with this delusion, but as 4 rule 

if they have been carefully studied, there his been some 

self-centred idea in that person's mind previous to the condi-

tion which is determined and positively identifies them as a 

paranoiac. 

Q You speak of a time when a subject becomes positively 
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identified as a paranoiac? Yes. 

41 That is the time you speak of as the subject having 

the systematized delusions? A Yes. 

Q, Take a case where a persomis in the throes of inoiP. 

lent paranoia, where the disease has not -progressed to the 

point where the person has the systematized delusions, there 

such a condition of mind? A Yes. 

Q, rn your wide experience and study, you have known of 

cases where the subjects begin to show symptoms of paranoia, but, 

where the subject has not yet become a confirmed.paranoiab*'W 

the way, paranoia as a rule is an incurable.disease? 

sir. 

Q It is so known to the profession? A rest sir. 

Experience has shown that? A Yea. 

(I Were you here this morning when Doctors Walsh 

Green testified? A No, I was here part of the. time 

Dr Walsh was testifying. 

O Did you hear Dr Walsh testify that in his Opinion, 

his examination convinced him that this young man is suffering 

from a form of incipient paranoia? A I did not hear it. 

Q. What is an expansive delusion? A That is ,Where they 

imagine that they are extraordinary individuals, one imagines 

himself a king. 

Q The Court asked you whether it is not true that para-

noiacs as a rule are extremely intelligent--are they not? 



Yes. 

q

 

And they talk intelligently' Yes. 

Q And from a mere conversation as a rule you c 

termine whether the person is or is not a paranoiac until leu 

come to the point where the delusion show itself? A 7 

questioning them carefully that delusion %xi:many will ihowit* 

self. 

Q You had no idea that this subject,the defendant 

you examined him, had any delusions? A No, sir. 

Q Were your questions directed toward evolving from his 

mind any apparent delusions that he might have? AL 'I under* 

stood he had committed a crime and I tried to follow out the 

story of the crime, anything which possibly would bear 40%Chis 

committing of that crime --anything which might have induced him. 

Q What crime do you speak of that you understood he had 

committed? A I understood that he had.conndtted a felonicUe 

as  

Q Shot a persoh? A Yes. 

Q Do we understand that you engaged him in your exendns# 

tion, in conversation regarding the commission of that crime, 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did he talk to you intelligently upon that subject? 

A Yes. 

Q, Did he tell you all about the crime? A I don't. 

know as he told me all about it or not. 



Tn. 
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Did he tell you how it had. happened? A es. 

(1, Did he tell you how he came to shoot? A He tel 

me that he was cleaning this revolver or took it out to wipe 

it off and that in hesitating what he would d with it think.. 

ing he would sell it at that time, the crime or the weapon was 

discharged. He claimed that he knew nothing about how it was -

discharged and that his mind was a perfect blank until he stib... 

sequently came to himself in Jefferson Market Court. 

(1 In all your experience and study in your profession 

have you ever heard of persons suffering from mental disease, 

which mental disease is evident at first by the commission of 

a violent act accompanied by a blank minds? Yes, sir, but 

here was another element--I had nothing to do with that*". 

Q, I simply ask your expert opinion? was simply 

examining him then to determine whether at that time ULM. 

mind he was sane or insane. 

You mean at the time he did the Shooting?, j. A 

the time 1.examined him. 

Q, Then you were not trying to'deterMine when you were 

examining him as to what his mental condition had been before, 

that? A Yes, sir. 

Q You were? A Yes, sir. 

Q What was his mental condition at the time of the 

shooting? A He was taking a lot of drugs. And what Was 

in those drugs I do not know. 



Whether they were a factor 

(1 What would you say that his mental conditiot ?ea 

•the time of the shooting? should say it was a 

Q Would you say that he was sane or insane at that -ti 

A He may have been sane and under the influence of drugs* 

Q And he may have been insane? A May have been insa 

yes. 

Q That is as much as you can tell about it? 

certainly, that is all anybody can tell. 

Q But now you are able to tell from a single conversa-

tion with this man that he is perfectly sane? A I say in ry 

opinion he is sane. 

Perfectly sane? A Yes. 

Q And in your opinion the direct question was no. 

you--but your opinion it is perfectly Safe fo1r the 

community to allow this man at large? A I have nothing to 40 

es, 

with his Moral condition. 

Q I do not speak about his mOralOmiWt are not concerned 

with them at all? A No. 

Q But the direct question now--

BY THE COURT: 

Q You would -not consider him dangerous to the public 

safety? A So far as his mental condition is concerned, no, 

sir, in my opinion. 



BY 104 KRESEL: 

Q, u say it would not be dangerous to the connunif 

-allow him at large? A Not from his mental.conditiOn. 

Q That is all you testify to? A Yes. 

R. MANHEIM: Morally he does not,know how good or 

bad he is. 

BY MR. MANHEIM: 

Q You mean that you do not know whether the boy 

or bad morally, but you know he Is sound, opinion be 

is sound mentally? A MY opinion is hR is sound mentally. 

Q, And there is no menace or danger to the comnuni 

from his mentality? A As far as 'his mentality ifs 0000ermed4 

no, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q In the course of your study with reference to the 

condition of the mind of a paranoiac have you ever come aCrolia 

a case where a paranoiac having committed violence afterwardS 

failed to recall the fact of having committed violence? 

A No, sir, I do not recall any. 

Q, Is it not a fact that a blank mind preceding the act 

of violence, is no symptom of a paranoiac? A I do not think 

it is. 

Q, As a rule a paranoiac remembers the occurrence? 

A Yes. 

Q, That is, he recalls the fact that he committed some 
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violence? A Yes, sir, and that he s justified 

Q And considers it justified? A Yes, air.' 

(1 That is he knew the nature and quality of t 

but does not regard the act as wrong? A Yes, sir. 

BY R. MAYHEW: 

Q, So, Doctor, if the defendant did that ac 

at the time his mind was a blank, that Is not sysip 

paranoia at all? A Not in that itself, no, sir. 

Q, And he may have been taking drugs at the time 

brought about that condition? 'A Yes, sir. 

q Is that a probable explanation of 

Objected to. 

Nevw mind--my learned friend, 10r Kresel said: 

thing about incipient paranoia--in this incipient parcno-

that what attracts attention to the fact that there is i 

lent paranoia, that the patient has these delusions and *V' 

presses them? A Well, the expression of a delusion is .a 

matter of development of the disease. 

RI If this boy had incipient paranoia, two and a half or 

three years ago, during all this time they would have been 

observed, would they not, in your opinion? A• You cannot 

tell how long it takes for those things to develop. 

RI You cannot tell how long it takes to develop them? 

A No. 

RI But if he had that, they would have been pronounced, 
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Would n't they? A If he had his 

think be had it now. 

BY MR. KRESEL: 

You do not say, in other words that a subject 

be suffering from incipient paranoia because he has not yet 

expressed his delusion, that is not what you want to be under* 

stood as saying?' A No, sir. 

Q, In other words, a subject may be in a condition 

mind where he can be said to be suffering :from incipient para. 

noia and yet not have expressed these delusions; that is tila 

is it not? A I do not see what you are going to base your 

Inference On that one has incipient paranoia unless be bat; 

some symptom. 

Q Do you regard then as the only symptom of parUn0104 

the delusion? A No, sir. 

Q So that there may be Other symptoms Showing that,* 

subject is suffering from incipient paranoia besides the dolu. 

sion? A Yes, sir. When the disease manifests itself and 

one has paranoia, then he has his delusions. 

In other words, when he is a confirmed paranoia be halt 

his delusions? A Yes, sir. 
0 

Q But when he is in the incipient state, he may not 

yet show the delusions, that is right? A We may all be in 

the incipient state then. 

BY R. MAYHEM: 
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,Very well. That is true, ia.it not? 

BY MR. MAUHEIM: 

The imagination may be powerful of course b 

this boy show any symptom of any incipient paranoia or cord' 

paranoia or any kind of paranoia? Not in my opinion. 

SIMON ROBERT SCH,ULTZ • ca1led.a0a itnesS 

in behalf of the defence, being duly sworn and oxsoldnod, 

testified as follows: 

DIRECT-EXAVINATION BY MR. MANBEIM:' 

Q, Are you a physician, a practicing physician in i 

city? A lam. 

Q And have been how long? .A The last ten yearslk 

(4, Are you the family doctor of SokolinOky? it I sm. 

Q And have .been how long? A For the last six or 

seven years. 

Q, 
QJ 

years. 

Do you know this boy? A I do. 

How long have you known him? A About six or seven 

Q. During that time has he come under your observation? 

A He himself has never been sick, but I have known him and ” 

known the family intimately all these years. 

The young man has not been sick, you mean not under 



r Observation? 

my observation. 

r, he has not been sie 

(1 If he had this private disease, you did not knoir• 

I did not know that. 

Q He would probably be ashamed to tell you about 10 

I suppose that is what it was. 

Q Have you ever noticed during all these years any •ariP, 
4.1 

tOm of paranoia or mental disease on the part of this b 

A I have not. 

Q Did you examine him specially? 

Q When? ' A I examined him 

this month. 

And during your practice of ten years in "Mill '0 

have people suffering from mental disorders come under your 

observation? A They have. 

Have you read the books on the subject? A I home* 

(1 You are acquainted with the different mental diSOT4' 

ders and their symptoms? A I am. 

Has this boy during all the time you knew him or 

during this extended examination that you say you gave hi= 

twice in the Tombs, shown any symptoms of paranoia Or any other 

mental disease? A He has not, no sir. 

Q His father and mother, you brow the family? 

know them well, and every one of, them. 

Q All they all right mentally? A Sound, every one 



• 

of them mentally. 

Q Have you heard from them the history of the : -

A I have inquired very minutely into the history  

grandparents of this boy, and even the great grandpare4 

cousins and sisters and brothers and there is notA 

case of insanity, epilepsy, or any mental disturbance. 

family as far as they can tell. 

Q, And there are six more children? 

had nine in all--two twins--both died--and the 

lived. 

Q Are they all correct mentally? 

tally. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION: 

You are not an expert in mental diseasee 

um not. 

AUG U -S T US A. G R E'E N-T'E calleUeb 0 

witness in behalf of the defence being duly sworn ah4 

examined, testified as follows: 

DIRECT -EXAMINATION BY MR. =THEM 

How long have you. been practicing medicine? A. Five 

years. 

Q, In this city? A Yes. 

Q During that period have you.  had people eufferiAg 

from mental diseases come under your obeerTation? A Yee, sir 



irltge,„ 

Have you made a study of mental diseases? A Tint, 

sir, I have particularly--that has been my study the last four

years. 

Yes. 

Q, 

You have made a study of that for the last few yeaila.. 

Have you read the books on the subject? 

Do you know what paranoia la? Yes. 

Yes. 

Q, Tell the jury What it ia? A Páranoia.iøamenta1 
derangement characterized by fixed syStematizettdeIUsiops 

progressive in nature. 

Q, Do you mean they become more arid, more fixed? 

and more fixed. 
subject, 

q And does'theAhe patient expresst those delulaCt 

upon all possible occasions? A That is the charaoteriStic 

Symptom. 

Q, And is that what first utUally attracts 

the fact that the subject is a paranoiac? 

connection with other—symptoms. 

Q, What are the other symptoms? A The other symptoms 

are, irritability, obstinancy, acts of violence, expansive de-

lusions. 

q They are very irritable? A Yes. 

q The slightest thing will throw them off? Yea. 

Q, Do they stick to one employment very long? 

mean whether they are coherent? 

You 



MR.KRESEL: 

to one employment. 

BY MR. MANHEIM: 

Q Do they stick to any one employment very long 

respect to that are restless? 

Yes--go from one employment to another and get ti 

the question was whether UAW Otifik 

of the employment? A •They are restless and always on 

move. They mist do something. 

MR. ERESEL In other words, a man always wants 

do something. 

THE WITNESS: They will talk or 

is characterized by motor restleSS0000 

MR. SEL: Talking or walking. 

A Walking or talking or smoking. 

BY MR. MANHEIM: 

A man like that does not stick to any one emplOYU00 

any number of months? A In that respect, he is restless. 

Q, He wants to be going else-Where and doing something 

else --now, have you examined this bay? A I:have. 

Have you found any symptom of paranoia or mental dis-

ease in him? A I have not. I examined him three times--

spent nearly three or four hours with him, and went into the 

smoke or drink 

question very carefully, and I could not detect anything that 

would lead me to a conclusion of that kind. 

Is it your opinion that he is or has not any mental 



diAlease 

disease. 

He, has not.. !Cy opinion he has 

The fact that for over tft years pastlw 

apparently normal existence doing no wrong, would' 

cate that he is not a paranoia?' Well, that vio0 

to show that even if he had any mental defect, that wou 

to show he was being cured. 

CROSS-EXAYINATION: 

You say that these symptoms areprogressivein.flatt 

Yes. 

0, That is the delusions are first very indistinct an4. 

with time they grow until they become fixed? A Ye 

Q, That is your idea of it? A Yes. 

Q, And the preliminary symptoms if we may so term thft, 

are several, and you have enumerated them 

A Yes. 

Qi 

A Yes, 

Among others your enumerated crimes of violence_ 

sir, one of the symptoms. 

And surely if a person commits crimes of violence 

without any apparent reason or -motive, that is a particular• 

symptom that there is something wrong mentally? A Not taken, 

in itself. 

Then you would say that the repliminary symptom of•42 

paranoiac state must be plural—one symptom is not sufficient? 



-You never make a diagnosis based uponone eymptOm.: 

take them all in:Ocnnection7 You take them all together*. 

Q if a person should shoot three times in succession at 

intervals say of two days, without any reason Whateverl 

would not regard that as sufficient symptom? That ii 

single symptom. He cannot be diagnosed by one symptom. 

If that went.on for tWoH.MonthS every day durilig the 

.

 

two months, you would still call-it a_single symptom? A Ye' 

Q That is, you.say,to this, jury that you would not re-

gard a person of unsound mind or as Ofa condition of mil* 

that suggests that there is Something wrong, If for a periOd: 

of two months every day, without any reason whatever he 

commit crimes of violence 

Objected to. 

(question repeated,) 

A If such were the fact,/ I should regard:it;all'indic 

tive of some mental derangement, if such were the fb.40", 

Q And if in addition to that you find that the 5xbJect 

commits the crime of violence—without any reason WhateVdri then 

claims that for a period of a day or lOnger. his .mind was blank 

and he knew nothing of what had happened, and.then follOWO it '-

up with several weeks thereafter or perhaps Several months 

thereafter, with again committing a crime in the shape of  

ceny, would that in any way indicate that there was something 

wrong? A It would indicate but not be conclusive evidence 



That would show of course the person may be t 

of paranoia which riot confirmed paranoia. The •ot 

tion that y u gave of paranoia is that it is --pto 

ease --fixed systematized delusions, which delusions are pr,cy 

gressive in nature? A So far as I know the boy hae,not 

shown any indication at all of any delusion. 

q Not so far as you know--that is all. 

REDIRECT-EXAKINATION: 

q. When a person has paranoia or incipient paranoia an 

commits an act of violence, be does so as the outcome Or 

delusion? A Certainly. You cannot diagnose any disease 

without some evidence. 

q And the man who does that. gives a reason for' del* 

he has a delusion, and he gives an excuse f r it?„, A That it' 

the Characteristic symptom. 

q That he justifies it? Yes, sir. 

inant idea of his. It compels hit to do it 

the reason why. 

Q, He says it? A Yes, sit. 

q He is not unconscious at all? A No. 

q He knows all about it? A Yes. 

BY MR. KRESEL: 

q There is such a state as incipient paranoia? 

diagnose paranoia by symptom. 

Q I say there is such a state as incipient paranoia? 

You 



Yes, every: disease has an .iriciPient statt., 

(1 I will repeat the question  there is such a State: as 

incipient paranoia? A Yes. 

ct Please give the Court and jury a definition of in-

cipIent paranoia? A Paranoia in the beginning stages,, 

that is the incipient stage. 

Q How would you tell that from confirmed paranoia? 

A By the fixity, and the fact that the delusions are system-

atized. By the fixity of the delusions and.' by the fact that 

these delusions are systematized, that is the subject Is able 

to reason upon them apparently logically. 

Would you say a Porommay,have incipient paranoia 

without having expressed any delusion? A He'has -not p 

noia if he has no delusions. 

Q Then you would differ with Dr West? 

think I could, because he could not express any opinion con-

trary. 

Q, What? A Dr West did not express any such (*Ulan, 

(I Did you hear his testimony? A I did. 

0, Did you hear him testify that in his opinion a person 

may be suffering from incipient paranoia without having an 

expressed delusion? A There is no such thing--there has 

to be some indication. 

Q I asked you if you heard him testify to that? 

A Yes. 



rtf°!°It' 7,T1YT.T., Y.Otr42.i!,M=27.22..:2-

You differ with him in that? 

n the sense that you are trking to. 

cl Not in the sense --I do not care What sense -ytnit 

with him in that there is no such thing? A do not 

you permit me to explain, I assure you lam not differing *4 

him. 

Q Explain it then? A In paranoia, what Dr Vast me 

by incipient paranoia is the earliest-

Q, You cannot tell what he meant--what is it? 

cipient paranoia--what I mean by incipient paranoia is recogni-

tion of the early symptoms indicating the onset of this 41.0041664 

Q And the early symptoms are as a rule not the delu-

sions, but others, such as you have enumerated? A I 41 

not say that. I said delusions is one essential point in 

paranoia. 

Q. But you say there are preltminary or earlier or dif-

ferent symptoms? A These delusions are not fixed--that 

is what I mean. 

Q What? A They are delusions but not fixed. 

(1 You mean that the commission of acts of violence are 

delusions? A Acts of violence are not delusions. 

Q Do you mean obstinancies are delusions? A They maY 

be based upon them. 

Q Answer me yes or no? A They are not. 

Q Those are two of the preliminary symptoms that you 



stentioned? 

toms. 

did not mention 'them as PreltMiSSri 

Q Cut out the word"preliminary"? A Some ArOPtamew 

BY MR. MANHEIM: 

Q, Is this obstinancy and these other symptoms a result 

of those delusions? A They are. 

Q And is it the delusion that causes all, those ac 

and other symptoms? A Yes, sir. 

by his delusions. He is compelled to do certain things by 

his delusions. 

Q And it causes Mm to be restless and irritable 

A Yes, Sir. 

BY THE TWELFTH JUROR: 

Q I would like to ask the Doctor, if, apart from 

mental indiCation,there are any physical defects, TariSMootar 

The patient is obsessed 

from the normal that would indicate a tendency toward Parantie 

THE WITNESS: In this boy. 

MR. SEL: Generally. 

A There are. 

MR. KRESEL: Enumerate them. 

A General defect of development as shown by lack of 

development in the capacity of the skull, in the shape or 

symmetry of the face, or development of the members of the 

body, or physiological symptoms, such as drUlling of the 

saliva and peech—defect of speech or of intellect, 



BY VIR. KRESE 

C Did you examine this boy physicall 

me 

Q Was there anything about his physics' =bl-

oats any mental disease? A Absolutely. nothing. 

Was he normally shaped? A Perfectly 

Q, Would you say this subject is of a neurotie con 

A I should not. 

Q You Should not? A No. 

Q, Did you find upon your examination that there 

slight scoliosis and that he has a curiously formed thereat? 

A He has--I am sorry to say almost every other person 11A5 i 

Q That is very interesting but I ask you whether' 

found that in this particular subject? A here was 

scoliosis. 

q Did you find his ears were large? 

ly, I don't think so. 

Q, Did you find his eyeballs prominent? 

usual in my judgment—they are not unusual. 

Q Has he what is known as dermographia? 

slightly. 

Q, What is that? A That is, it simply indicates a" 

lack of tone in the vascular system. 

Q That is Greek to me? A Any boy that has been in.. 

active, his muscles will relax and the skin will relax and 
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s mply has not a free circulation of his body. 

Q. Did you examine his knees? A You mean 

es? 

knees? 

Ri 

Test thee A Yee,. 

Was there any exaggeration there, n either 

A There is not, no, sir. 

None? A No, sir. 

Q Is there a curvature of the spine? said there. 

was a little scoliosis--you said yourself there was a Blight 

scoliosis. 

Q Would those conditions that yo U found indicate to 

your learned mind that the subject is a bit neurotic? A 

these are not any signs. 

them as 

Ri 

A Yes. 

Ri 

R, 

No indication whatever? A No, 1 Should n 

such. 

Did you hear Dr Walsh's testimony this nor 

You have known of Dr Walsh, have you not? A . 114 

Have you read his books that he wrote?, A He did 

not write any book on insanity. 

Did you hear him mention the book that he wrote? 

A That.waa not nervous diseases. 

Q, Did you read the book he wrote? A He wrote sev-

eral articles, but no text book on the subject. 

Q, You have heard of his connection with the Fordham 



dlpovnot 

• VniverSity? A Yes. 

Did you hear him testify this morning that from thee 

physical conditions that he expressed, this man Wee of 

rotic condition--you not agree with him it that/ 

do not. 

BY MR. MAYHEM 

Q This long Latin or Greek term--what is it? 

Dermographia. 

Q About the spine? A Seoliosis. 

Q Is that a slight curvature of the spine? 

lateral curvature of the spine. 

Q Are there many persons who have that? 

all school children have it. 

Q Might that be produced by carrying a load on UMW 

side, little children going to school and carrying their 

school books? A Yes. 

Q And bending over, and when the bones aie in a plastie 

condition and constantly bending over, that way, it would OeUee 

that? A Yes, sir. 

Q And do very, very many people have that? A In MY 

judgment I think almost all school Children have it. 

Q Keeping the boy confined in the Tombs for four or five 

weeks is not apt to cause him to look extraoydinarily healthy? 

A Certainly not. 

BY MR. KRESEL: 



ongoing to put a question to you in which / 

embody certain assumed facts and ask you whether you agree with 

these facts or not, and I desire for the purpose of thiS 00130 

.tion that you assume them to be true, and then I ShaIllOut-41.' 

question to you and would like to have you answer it. Assume 

that the subject showed a prominence of the eyeballe and a 

slight enlargement of the thyroid gland assume that the heart. 

action is not rapid but is somewhat irregular with a mnrsaaritsh 

sound; assure that this subject has .a. alight scoll.osis and he 

has a curiously formed thorax; assume that his ears are large 

and not well placed; assume that he has what is known as demo-

graphia, and that both his knee Jerks are stronger than they 

should be, and that his left is distinctly exaggerateC. Isa 

you whether in your opinion a subject Showing those syloptft0 

of a neurotic condition? A You want re to assume these 

facts to be true? 

A Yes. A I should not‘ 

You should not say so? A No, sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, What would the combination of facts tend to show, 

suming the facts are true? A Certainly show lack Of physi-

cal development. 

Q Are you a duly licensed expert --medical examiner in 

lunacy? A I have not taken any particular interest in that. 

I have been connected with an institution on the Bast Side_ 



*here ve have lots of such cases. 

q Have you ever been recorded as an examiner 

A Na. 

BY MR. KMESEL: 

Q Have you ever testified as an expert in um  

A Not in lunacy--in various medical .cases. 

eases? 

Have you ever testified as an expert in mental di 

A No, sir. 

This is your first experience? A. yes'. 

Q In what place did you say these cases came Under 

observation, on the East Side? A yes, sir. We have them 

in the Beechonian Dispensary, almost a, hundred patiente'a da 

Q Where is that? A On the East Side. 

Q You observed all these thin-009 A All neurotiO 

cases are referred to my department. 

Q, You examined them? A Yes. 

Q That comes under your observation?' A 

Q, You never made it a business to be a witness in the e 
; 

cases? A No. 

Q This is the first time you are in court? A Tat. 

BY MR. KRESEL: 

Q When you speak of neurotic cases, you do not mean 

cases of mental diseases? A No. 

Q How often did you come across a person on the Saat 

Side suffering with mental disease, that comes into your dip!w " 

' 



yensary? A Well we generally have about five vr. 

every month. 

7ive or six a month? 

subdivisions. 

BY TEE COURT: 

It varies 

9, what do you do in sudh cases? A General' 

them to an institution. 

Q Have you ever personally had occasion to examine 

paranoiac? A Yes, sir, we have. 

BY MR. KEESEL: 

q Have you--not se? Yes, air, 1 mean 

mAnt, because there is another onethere. 

BY THE COURT: 

q How many such case's? A. I couldn't redolleOttgiik 

ly how many—four or five year's now, couldn't 'x,acollit.t4t* 

Q, What other subjects have you examined with 

mental disorders of the mind? A .,we adolescofl 

puerperal insanity--thoSe cases- are very frequent. 

Adlocescent insanity? A Yes, 

q Cataleptics? A Yee. 

What is the difference between one Buffering from 

adolescent insanity and paranoia? A Paranoia is character-

ized by fixed delusional symptoms, and'addleacent insanity is 

characterized by a different series of symptame.entirely. 

What are the symptoms? A There is an absent of 



Fa4i.tifor 

ixed delusions, and then there is what we call a tenden6 

repeat words and an unusual flight of ideas..the0 

BY THE COURT: 

CI What are the cases of adolescent insanit 

ply the period during. which the subject Is subject to illy, 
the 

logical changes--characteristic.of change from boyhood to 

hood--subject to an unusual strain--the sexual organs take a 

unusual development-the mind. takes on a different attitude, 

and the strain is generally sufficient to derange it. 

M A X SOKOLINSKYI tailed as a witness in behalf 

of the defendant, being duly sworn and examined tentiiP 

fled as follows: 

DIRECT -EXAMINATION BY MR MANHE : 

Q. You are the father of this boy? 

How old is he? A Twenty Years old now  

C: When will he be 21? A .Six months 

q When is his birthday? A 1.-ris birthday is aix,,r4on,tha 

before --was his birthday. 

Q, Do you know--you don't know his birthday -do ICIA-XnaW 

the English months? A I know the Jewish months. 

Tell us his birthday according to the Jewish month0 

A He was born on Yom Koppur. 

Q, That is the Day of Atonement, that eomee in the early. 

part of October? A I think so. 



father 

tr8,4.4. Aj..• 

Have you ever had insanity in your feta 

Where were you born? Russia. 

And your father and mother were there 

was born in Russia and my mother also. 

What did your father do for a living-up to the 

m 

he died? A He was a hard workman. He was hard .Wotkimg't 

his living. 

(4, Working man? A He was a working man 

working man and a strong man. 

Anything the matter with his mind at 

never. 

Q Did you ever hear of anything -the matter with t4 

mind of your father or grandfather or: any of their anoet.or* 

A No; my grandfather was 105 years old -when he died; 

was very strong. 

9, How about your grandmother, how old, Was She? 

80 when she died. 

Q How about your father and mother? My father 

was a strong man. When he died he was 55 years old. 

Q He died muchearlier of course--was there anything the 

trouble with his mind? A No. I was hee at the time that he 

died. I was in America. 

Q This boy of yours, do you know what delusions are? 

THE COURT: You will have to bring yourself within 



the rule. Ask him, from his obse ation of his boy If he 4517r 

observed any act which impressed him as the act of avttiOn 

or irrational person. That is all a lay witness can te 

to. 

BY. MR. MANHEIV: 

Q Did you ever see any act on the part of your boy that 

showed that he was not mentally sound? A sever. He, went 

school and was good-:in school. 

Went to school to what age? A To, fourteen, -and • when 

I let the other children go to school the Principal said to 

the other children, Try to be so good like your brother was. 

Q He went to school until he was fourteen? A Yes. 

And then went to work? Yes. 

Q How many children have you? A 

O The other six are younger than he? 

Q, Are they all right so far •as their 

A They are all right. 

Q You never saw anything on the part Dr thiff boy that 

showed he was not right in his mind? A Io, never, he  was 

always a strong boy and a good boy. 

Q, Have you lately,learned him or taught him the trade of 

a blocker of hats? 

THE COURT: You need not go into that 

No cross-examination. 

YANHEIY: The District Attorney will concede 



What the bey said about his working for Rom 

hia learning the hat blocking—I have not 

here. 

MR. KRESEL: I will concede all that. 

THE COURT: And the District Attorne will 430n4 

that the persons whose names you now mention if 

to testify, would testify to the fact.that the 40 

the defendant did not tqpress them as irrational. 

that all you can prove by them. 

MR. MANHEITA: Yes. 

THE PEOPLE REST. 

THE DEFENCE RESTS. 

THE COURT: You will have to offer in evi44 

verdict of the jury and the indictment in that Utre 

case and the case tried. 

MR. KRESEL: I offer in, 'evidence. the inai001104, 

against Louis Sokolinsky bearing:the number 56A481. 

charging him with assault in the first degree and the  

second degree, together with the verdict of the 

fore which he was tried for that crime, which is. -

on the face of the indictment. 

Received and marked People's 'Exhibit 1. 

The Judge charged the %jury. 

The jury rendered the following verdict: etVe ind 



Our opinion it ie. not dangeroue to the 

and safety to permit Louie Sokolinsky to re 

and with society." 


	pg001670
	pg001671
	pg001672
	pg001673
	pg001674
	pg001675
	pg001676
	pg001677
	pg001678
	pg001679
	pg001680
	pg001681
	pg001682
	pg001683
	pg001684
	pg001685
	pg001686
	pg001687
	pg001688
	pg001689
	pg001690
	pg001691
	pg001692
	pg001693
	pg001694
	pg001695
	pg001696
	pg001697
	pg001698
	pg001699
	pg001700
	pg001701
	pg001702
	pg001703
	pg001704
	pg001705
	pg001706
	pg001707
	pg001708
	pg001709
	pg001710
	pg001711
	pg001712
	pg001713
	pg001714
	pg001715
	pg001716
	pg001717
	pg001718
	pg001719
	pg001720
	pg001721
	pg001722
	pg001723
	pg001724
	pg001725
	pg001726
	pg001727
	pg001728
	pg001729
	pg001730
	pg001731
	pg001732
	pg001733
	pg001734
	pg001735
	pg001736
	pg001737
	pg001738
	pg001739
	pg001740
	pg001741
	pg001742
	pg001743
	pg001744
	pg001745
	pg001746
	pg001747
	pg001748
	pg001749
	pg001750
	pg001751
	pg001752
	pg001753
	pg001754
	pg001755
	pg001756
	pg001757

